Contents lists available at SciVerse ScienceDirect



Review

Autoimmunity Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/autrev

The X chromosome and the sex ratio of autoimmunity

Carlo Selmi ^{a,b,*}, Enrico Brunetta ^b, Maria Gabriella Raimondo ^b, Pier Luigi Meroni ^{c,d}

^a Division of Rheumatology, Allergy, and Clinical Immunology, University of California, Davis, CA, USA

^b Clinical Immunology, Department of Medicine, IRCCS Istituto Clinico Humanitas, Milan, Italy

^c Department of Internal Medicine, University of Milan, Milan, Italy

^d Istituto Auxologico Italiano, Milan, Italy

ARTICLE INFO

Available online 3 December 2011

ABSTRACT

The number of human conditions that are currently considered to be autoimmune diseases (AID) has been steadily growing over the past decades and it is now estimated that over 10 million people are affected in the United States. One of the major shared features among AID is the predominance in the female sex which in some cases changes with the age at disease diagnosis. Numerous hypotheses have been formulated based on intuitive scientific backgrounds to justify this sex imbalance, i.e. sex hormones and reproductive factors, fetal microchimerism, other sex-related environmental factors, a skewing of the X-chromosome inactivation patterns, and major defects in sex chromosomes. Nevertheless, none of these hypotheses has thus far gathered enough convincing evidence and in most cases data are conflicting, as well illustrated by the reports on fetal microchimerism in systemic sclerosis or primary biliary cirrhosis. The present article will critically discuss the main hypotheses (loss of mosaicism, reactivation, and haploinsufficiency) that have been proposed based on findings in female patients with specific AID along with two additional mechanisms (X-chromosome vulnerability and X-linked polyamine genes) that have been observed in AID models. Further, recent data have significantly shifted the paradigm of X chromosome inactivation by demonstrating that a large number of genes can variably escape silencing on one or both chromosomes. As a result we may hypothesize that more than one mechanism may contribute to the female susceptibility to tolerance breakdown while the possibility that unknown factors may indeed protect men from AID should not be overlooked.

© 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Of women and autoimmunity
2.	Of X chromosomes and women
3.	Of X chromosomes and female advantages
4.	Of X chromosomes and the onset of autoimmunity
	4.1. Loss of mosaicism
	4.2. Reactivation
	4.3. Haploinsufficiency
	4.4. Epigenetics and polyamines
5.	The unifying hypothesis of X chromosome vulnerability
6.	Final remarks and future developments
Refe	erences

1. Of women and autoimmunity

* Corresponding author at: Clinical Immunology Unit, Department of Medicine, IRCCS Istituto Clinico Humanitas, via A. Manzoni 56, 20089 Rozzano (MI), Italy. Tel.: + 39 02 8224 5129; fax + 39 02 8224 4590.

Autoimmune diseases (AID) include a wide range of clinical phenotypes collected in over 70 different disorders which are believed to affect over 5% of the world population and account for a significant part of the health care expenditures [1]. In general terms, AID can be distinguished by the wide variability of tissue-specificity or systemic involvement, age of onset, serum autoantibodies, and response to

E-mail address: carlo.selmi@unimi.it (C. Selmi).

^{1568-9972/\$ –} see front matter 0 2011 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.autrev.2011.11.024

immunosuppressive treatments [2,3]. Nevertheless, similarities are considered to outnumber differences in AID and the one feature that is shared by the vast majority of these conditions is the uneven distribution between sexes. This predominance of AID in the female sex accounts for over 80% of patients being women in most autoimmune diseases, as illustrated in Table 1 [4,5]. Even though the female predisposition to AID has been known for over a century, the causes of this sex imbalance remain unknown and several different hypotheses have been proposed in the last few years. A susceptible genetic background is considered to be necessary but appears insufficient to explain both AID onset and the female predominance, while several environmental factors have been suggested as additional players in tolerance breakdown [6]. The proposed factors include sex hormones, fetal microchimerism, sex-specific environmental factors, reproductive history, a skewed X-chromosome inactivation pattern, and major defects of the sex chromosomes. However, none of these hypotheses has thus far gathered enough convincing data, and in most cases reports are conflicting or burdened by technical limitations [7]. It is our opinion, indeed, that one or more mechanisms should account for the female susceptibility to AID but that the same mechanisms are likely to be shared by numerous conditions, thus militating against most proposed factors which failed to be recapitu-

will be briefly discussed. The effect of sex hormones on AID onset and perpetuation was first suggested by their immunomodulatory effects. In particular, the reported role of estrogens in lymphocyte maturation/activation and the synthesis of antibodies and cytokines [8-10] raised great interest. Further, estrogen receptor (ER) ligands modulate both the innate and adaptive immune responses, alter antigen presenting cell (APC) quantitatively and qualitatively both in vivo and in vitro, and regulate dendritic cell (DC) differentiation [11]. When these observations were used as the background to determine the sex hormone profile of women with AID and controls, results were disappointing with differences failing to reach statistical significance or being inconsistent. As an example of this unresolved dichotomy, we could note that specific AID arise at different ages and reproductive phases (albeit in most cases following menopause) [12,13] while the higher estrogen levels characterizing pregnancy are often associated with an amelioration of several autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis (RA) or systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) [14-16].

lated in different clinical settings. This is the case for sex hormones,

sex-related environmental factors, and fetal microchimerism which

Specific environmental factors manifest different probability of exposure in men and women. This is the case, for example, of the

Table 1

Female to male ratio reported for autoimmune diseases. Diseases in which a male predominance is observed are italicized.

Autoimmune disease	Female:male ratio
Addison's disease [1–5]	0.8-2.4
Antiphospholipid antibody syndrome [1–4]	5
Autoimmune chronic hepatitis [4–19]	7
Giant cell arteritis [1–5]	2.5
Graves' disease [33]	7
Hashimoto's disease [33]	5-18
Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura [1–5]	3
Multiple sclerosis [73]	2
Myasthenia gravis [1–4]	3
Myositis [1–5]	2
Pernicious anemia [1-5]	2
Primary biliary cirrhosis [90]	10
Primary sclerosing cholangitis [1–19]	0.6
Rheumatoid arthritis [30]	2
Sjogren's syndrome [1–5]	9
Systemic lupus erythematosus [73]	9
Systemic sclerosis [3–26]	5
Type 1 diabetes [4–31]	0.8-1.2

xenobiotics found in cosmetic products such as hair dye or nail polish, both of which have been associated with specific AID.

Similarly, urinary tract infections are more common in women and bacteria associated with this type of infection have been proposed as ideal candidates but a causative relation could not be proven possibly due to the long latency between the infection and the AID onset. In the case of primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC) these factors have been suggested, among others, by epidemiological and experimental studies [17-20] but, despite the most recent xenobiotic-induced murine models [7,21], a mechanistic relation can only be hypothesized. Dendritic cells, for examples, are activated by components of hair dyes [22] while phtalate (phthalate) included in nail polish may trigger an SLE-like autoantibody response [23,24]. Finally, a role of sex chromosomes in AID has been proposed based on several mechanisms including fetal microchimerism, X chromosome inactivation patterns, and X-chromosome monosomy and duplication. Fetal microchimerism was first suggested based on the observation that most AID manifest their peak of incidence following the fertile period and maternal and fetal cells are exchanged during pregnancy, leading to fetal cell persistence (i.e. microchimerism) in the mother. Chimeric fetal cells are often hematopoietic and can differentiate into somatic cells in multiple organs, potentially acting as targets for autoimmunity and resembling graft versus-host disease after stem-cell transplantation. Microchimeric cells were first detected in peripheral blood mononuclear cells from patients with systemic sclerosis [25], but other authors have failed to reproduce these findings in the same disease [26] or in PBC [27]. Cumulatively, available data on the role of fetal microchimerism in autoimmunity are weak or inconclusive, as naturally acquired fetal and maternal microchimerism is not uncommon in healthy women [28]. Nevertheless, we note that the concept of chimerism has witnessed a significant evolution over the past years to overcome the simple persistence of fetal cells [29] and now includes more complex and multigenerational chimerisms found in AID [30] such as type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM) [31], rheumatoid arthritis [32], and autoimmune thyroid disease [33] or in prototypic female-predominant types of cancer [34]. The proposed role for changes in the X chromosome that may trigger or predispose to autoimmunity will be discussed in further details.

2. Of X chromosomes and women

The female karyotype includes two X chromosomes, one derived from each parent, while men carry one maternal X and one paternal Y chromosome. To avoid double dosage of X chromosome-derived proteins in females, one of the X chromosomes is randomly silenced during X chromosome inactivation (XCI), which occurs in the early stages of female embryogenesis. Only X-chromosome pseudoautosomal regions (i.e. those with a corresponding allele on the Y chromosome) were thought to escape inactivation and the classical view of this whole chromosome silencing through DNA methylation has been recently challenged and will be discussed in details below. In the classical vision, however, the XCI process results in female cellular mosaicism: in a female, approximately half of the cells express genes derived from the maternal X chromosome and the other half express genes derived from the paternal X chromosome (ratio close to 50:50 when XCI is random) [35]. The X chromosome has numerous genes which, directly or indirectly, are involved in immunity, and naturally occurring variations in one gene copy might result in two distinct alleles with different regulatory and response capacities. For females, this means additional physiological diversity: not only do heterozygous females avoid the effects of deleterious gene-mutations, they also benefit from added diversity when facing new immune challenges, such as microbial infections [36-38]. Thus, deleterious or disadvantageous mutations that occur in an X chromosome-linked gene will result in the functional loss of the protein in all cells in a male, but in only half of cells in a female. However, severe skewing, defined as

an XCI pattern deviation from the 50:50 ratio, may occur and are not pathologic per se. The most common technique used to analyzed XCI patterns is genotyping of a highly polymorphic CAG repeat in the human androgen receptor (AR) gene. Hpa II and Hha I enzyme restriction sites, located <100 bp from this polymorphic short tandem repeat, are methylated on the inactive X chromosome and nonmethylated on the active X chromosome. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplification across this region permits the distinguishing of 2 amplicons with different sizes, corresponding to maternal and paternal X alleles. After enzyme digestion, PCR amplification is possible only for the methylated (uncut) X-chromosome. Densitometric analysis of the 2 alleles indicates the inactivation status of 1 allele compared with the other and reveals the percentage of XCI skewing. A skewed result is defined as one allele being inactivated at >75% while extreme skewing represents an inactivation of >90% [39]. In the general population skewed XCI is sometimes observed, but extreme skewing is rare while being associated with a subgroup of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis [40]. Of note, XCI skewing increases significantly in the blood cells of females from the neonatal period to old age and XCI skewing is three-times more frequent at older ages compared to birth [41].

Whether sex hormones during reproductive life (i.e. prepuberty, puberty, and adults before and after menopause) or immunomodulating treatments commonly used in AID may also have an impact on XCI skewing remains to be determined despite the available negative evidence [40,42,43].

As previously mentioned, the new data on additional players such as small, noncoding RNA (snRNA) and on DNA methylation profiling recently undermined the classical dogma of X-chromosome inactivation. DNA methylation remains the most studied phenomenon of gene silencing and X-chromosome inactivation but it has been reported that, in a counterintuitive fashion [44], the inactive chromosome manifests the lower degree of DNA methylation [45], somehow in conflict with the previous data on X inactivation and reversing the established relationship between overall methylation and expression potential as such enhanced methylation is concentrated in the gene body, rather than the promoter [45]. Furthermore, it has been shown that 10-15% of X-linked genes variably escapes silencing and are expressed from both X chromosomes in a proportion of healthy women [46]. Taken altogether, these findings have radically changed our understanding of the biology of X chromosomes and allow specific genes to achieve double or a null expression in physiological conditions [7].

3. Of X chromosomes and female advantages

In general terms, females have a longevity advantage compared to males, and this is true for several mammalian species, including humans [47]. Additionally, the outcome and survival rates from numerous diseases are significantly better for women [48,49]. The X chromosome is partly responsible for the altered responsiveness of the female immune system [35] constituting an immunological advantage. The numerous clinical observations supporting this advantage are now paralleled by theoretical and mathematical models, which confirm that throughout evolution, males have acquired lower immune responsiveness than females [50,51]. This is well illustrated by the superior capacity of women to produce serum antibodies and IgM following stimuli [52,53]. Furthermore, the enhanced susceptibility of males to infections is manifest since birth: male newborns are more prone to septicemia and meningitis, and have higher incidence rates of tuberculosis [54] or more severe infections caused by bacteria or viruses, such as respiratory infections caused by parainfluenza virus and respiratory syncytial virus, as well as those caused by bacteria such as Staphylococcus spp., Escherichia coli, Legionella pneumophila and Campylobacter spp. [53,55–58].

From an evolutionary standpoint it is quite intuitive that the presence of one X chromosome represents a significant disadvantage for mammalian males, as every newly arisen recessive mutation on the X chromosome will be phenotypically expressed [35], as well illustrated by X-linked diseases [59]. In these conditions, the immune system can be impaired at different levels encompassing innate and adaptive immunity key functions such as infectious agents phagocytosis or lymphocyte differentiation based on the absence or dysfunction of immune cells or impaired cytokine-mediated signaling [60–62].

4. Of X chromosomes and the onset of autoimmunity

Some hypotheses have been suggested to explain why X chromosome inactivation skewing or other X chromosome-associated abnormalities that will be discussed later may contribute to disturbances in self recognition and ultimately to tolerance breakdown and AID. These hypotheses include the loss of mosaicism, the reactivation and the haploinsufficiency based on findings in female patients with specific autoimmune disorders (an illustration of these mechanisms is provided in Fig. 1). Nevertheless, the same AID may recognize signs of all or possibly none of the proposed mechanisms in subgroups of patients. This suggests that these mechanisms are not universal and that the same disease may manifest different pathogenetic mechanisms.

4.1. Loss of mosaicism

The loss of mosaicism hypothesis states that disturbances in random XCI may result in autoimmunity [63-65], as first proposed by Kast [64] and later developed by Stewart [65] and Ozcelik [63]. Women with random mosaicism possess two populations of dendritic cells (DCs) that express either maternal or paternal X-linked self antigens for thymic negative selection, and potentially autoreactive thymocytes are negatively selected by both DC populations. Conversely, a woman with severe XCI skewing will have, for example, the preferential inactivation of the paternal X chromosome. In this case, T cells will be only tolerized by DCs expressing maternal Xlinked self antigens and autoreactive T cells specific for paternal X chromosome self antigens will escape negative selection and enter the periphery [65]. This hypothesis was supported first by the report of nonspecific, polyclonal T cell activation in several female patients with SLE [66]. In this scenario, self antigens encoded by the X chromosome may prime the non-tolerized X-reactive T cells, and these T cells may thus activate B cells presenting the same endogenous Xchromosome self antigen [65,67]. It is well established that SLE disease activity is associated with polyclonal B cell activation and, according to this model, the 'polyreactive' T cells are each specifically reactive to a particular B cell-derived X-chromosome-associated self antigen [65]. Autoimmune thyroid diseases (AITD) and systemic sclerosis (SSc) are also associated with a high degree of XCI skewing despite the fact that the AR gene was used to determine the XCI pattern thus limiting the value of this observation [68-71]. Conversely, patients with Sjögren's syndrome and PBC do not have X chromosome inactivation skewing in blood cells, indicating that this is not a common characteristic of all autoimmune diseases [63,72]. Moreover, even if skewed inactivation pattern is a common feature of women affected by autoimmune diseases, it does not necessarily lead to autoimmunity in all women, as XCI patterns in peripheral lymphocytes from women with SLE, multiple sclerosis, or RA are similar to agematched healthy women [73]. A second line of evidence to support this hypothesis is provided by the observation that men with a XXY karyotype (i.e. Klinefelter's syndrome) have a 14-fold higher risk of developing SLE than XY men [74]. In this case, it has been suggested that one of the X chromosomes of XXY men is subject to inactivation, and evidence shows that XCI skewing is a common characteristic of Klinefelter's syndrome, thus ultimately leading to disease onset [65].



Fig. 1. A schematic view of the loss of mosaicism hypothesis. The extreme skewing of X chromosome inactivation (represented on the right) causes the breakdown of self tolerance in the thymus and the persistence of autoreactive lymphocytes for X-linked antigens.

4.2. Reactivation

According to this second hypothesis, the reactivation of genes from the inactive X chromosome may contribute to autoimmunity [75]. The mechanisms leading to inactive X chromosome reactivation remain enigmatic but this could lead to overexpression of X-linked genes involved in immune functions, which in turn would be responsible for overproduction of autoantibodies [76] or tolerance breakdown, as in the case of FoxP3 [77]. Alternatively, overexpression of X-linked genes could disrupt the equilibrium in the mechanism of fine-tuning protein expression and generate protein aggregates that would trigger responses against self antigens [78]. Reactivation of CD40L on the inactive X chromosome has been found in T cells of female patients with SLE [76,79] and its methylation appears to play a major role in determining the serum polyclonal hyper-IgM characterizing PBC [80]. It was proposed that regulatory sequences on the inactive X chromosome would be demethylated in T cells from these patients, resulting in CD40L overexpression [76]. Indeed, CD4 + T cells from female patients with SLE express two-fold higher CD40L than males, and these CD40L overexpressing CD4 + T cells stimulate an increased IgG production by autologous B cells correlating with SLE disease activity [79]. Similar gene dosage effects may be the consequence of other changes not resulting in the reactivation of methylated X-linked genes. The duplication of the Tlr7 gene is associated with an SLE-like disease in mice [81] while XX female mice are more susceptible to pristane-induced SLE and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis as a model of multiple sclerosis than XYSry-female mice (with an inserted Sry transgene) [82]. Female mice had identical gonadal and hormonal background, which suggests that double dosage of the X chromosome may itself confer susceptibility to autoimmunity.

4.3. Haploinsufficiency

A third hypothesis states that haploinsufficiency for X-linked genes results in AID development [83,84], as first suggested by the

observation that patients with X chromosome monosomy (loss of one X chromosome; X0 karyotype), such as those with Turner's syndrome, commonly manifest immune changes [85]. Turner's syndrome is characterized by the absence of all or part of one of the X chromosomes, and women with this syndrome have, for example, an increased risk of developing AITD and inflammatory bowel diseases [86,87]. The haploinsufficiency of genes located in the pseudoautosomal region (PAR) 1 of sex chromosomes has been proposed to contribute to the defects observed in Turner's syndrome [88] and these genes, present in two copies in both XX females and XY males, are only present in one copy in X0 females, and this may be functionally insufficient. PAR 1 contains 26 genes and, although some have been associated with the mental retardation observed in Turner's syndrome, only few are involved in immune functions. Women with isochromosome-Xg are also more prone to developing AITD and inflammatory bowel diseases, also suggesting that an imbalanced expression of genes from the short arm of the X chromosome may be a predisposing factor for developing these disorders [86]. More recently, AID with a female predominance and a late-age onset such as PBC, SSc, and AITD were reported to be characterized by a higher X chromosome monosomy rate in peripheral B and T cells, suggesting again that haploinsufficiency for X-linked genes may be a crucial factor [83,89,90]. The mechanism behind loss of one X chromosome from these cells is not known but appears to increase with age, a phenomenon commonly observed in healthy women. It has been proposed that a gradually acquired haploinsufficiency for specific X chromosome-linked genes (from PAR or genes that permanently escape inactivation in normal females) in peripheral B and T cells could be responsible for the generation of autoantibodies [89]. Despite these theories, few genes contained in the X chromosome have been specifically associated with one or more AID. However, it is unlikely that mutations or different methylation in a single gene would be responsible for the higher susceptibility of females to autoimmunity, as recently illustrated in female twins with PBC [91]. In this study the X chromosome genes variably escaping inactivation were compared in terms of expression and methylation between

Table 2

X chromosome abnormalities reported in autoimmune diseases including systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), autoimmune thyroid disease (AITD), primary biliary cirrhosis (PBC), and systemic sclerosis (SSc).

Site		Clinical phenotype	References
Xp22.33	Xp22.33;Yp11.2 translocation causing triplication of genes	Severe SLE	[115]
Xq26	Demethylation of CD40LG on the Xi in T cells in women, leading to over-expression of CD40LG in CD4 + T cells.	SLE	[76]
X, AR gene	Skewed X chromosome inactivation	AITD, SSc	[68,69]
X, 4 sites	Random X chromosome inactivation	PBC	[116]
Xp11.23	Mutated JM2 fork head-related protein	X-linked autoimmunity-allergic dysregulation syndrome	[117]
X, specific site not identified	Chromosomal abnormalities in peripheral blood cells. Half of MS abnormalities were X-related.	Multiple sclerosis	[118]
Xp21.2	Various defects in cytochrome B β subunit and carriers of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease	SLE-like symptoms in some female carriers and some male patients with X-CGD.	[108,119]
X, duplication	Higher incidence of lupus in males with Klinefelter's syndrome (XXY)	SLE	[120]
X, monosomy	Higher frequency in peripheral T and B cells from female patients	PBC, SSc, AITD	[84,90,109]

monozygotic twin sisters discordant for the disease and data suggested that CLIC2 and PIN4 may be associated with the disease through epigenetic mechanisms.

4.4. Epigenetics and polyamines

Numerous AID, including SLE and RA, are characterized by an abnormal methylation pattern of their lymphocyte DNA [44]. As a final topic for our discussion, we will touch on a hypothesis that relates loss of Xlinked dosage compensation to the alterations in methylation observed in AID [92] and, more specifically, the elevated levels of polyamines. Polyamines are ubiquitous small flexible cations that are essential for cell growth and proliferation [93,94]. The charge distribution and length of polyamines give them the potential for unique interactions, such as connecting anionic points in intramolecular and intermolecular complexes. Their putative functions and interactions include the histone acetylation [95], the maintenance of the blood-brain and blood-nerve barrier permeability [96], the modulation of ion channels [97], the modulation of nuclear receptor interactions, such as increasing the affinity of estrogen receptor for DNA [98] [99], DNA repair [100], and stabilizing Z-DNA [101]. Because of the importance of polyamines, the synthesis and recycling of polyamines are tightly controlled processes, particularly for spermidine and spermine, and their precursor, putrescine. A hypothesis has been proposed that explains some autoimmune diseases as occurring due to loss of dosage compensation of X-linked polyamine genes at Xp22.1, which impact intracellular methylation [102] with unpredictable effects. The two genes of interest are spermine synthase (SMS), an enzyme involved in synthesizing spermine from spermidine; and spermidine/spermine-N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1), an enzyme involved in recycling spermine and spermidine. Overexpression of SMS would lead to increased levels of spermine, particularly when unbound spermidine is available, as under cellular stress conditions (ex. UV light or viral activity). Over-expression of SAT1 increases recycling of polyamines. Increased polyamine synthesis uses decarboxylated S-adenosylmethionine (dcSAM), created from S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) by SAMDC. The resulting decrease in SAM, the cell methyl donor, would ultimately affect the methylation of DNA in the nucleus thus fitting in the proposed model for AID [103-105].

5. The unifying hypothesis of X chromosome vulnerability

The vulnerability of the X chromosome may constitute the missing link to unite all previously discussed hypotheses for AID sex predominance which are summarized in Table 2. As mentioned, dosage compensation is the fundamental purpose of XCI and its loss may be restricted to a few genes at the abnormality site or be more extensive [92]. First, one SLE case was observed in an XX man who had an Xp22.33;Yp11.2 translocation that resulted in duplication of PAR1 genes and a partial trisomy of some genes, most interestingly, the translocation included the genes for the alpha subunit of the interleukin-3 receptor (IL-3 being a growth factor for proliferation and differentiation of hematopoietic stem cells) and CD99 (a transmembrane protein involved in adhesion and apoptosis of T cells) [106]. Second, a gene dose effect could also be mediated by XCIescaping genes that will have a variable degree of expression in women [107], as discussed for PBC [91]. Third, a different hint at the vulnerability of the X chromosome is gathered from X-linked chronic granulomatous disease (X-CGD), an X-linked recessive disease affecting phagocytes that impairs the capacity to generate superoxide anions that are converted to hydroxyl radicals, hydrogen peroxide, and other radicals. These oxidants are crucial to counteract and destroy infectious agents (particularly bacteria) ingested by phagocytes and patients are thus immunocompromised and prone to bacterial infections. The disease is associated with the cytochrome B β subunit gene (CYBB) mapping at Xp21.2; which explains why only men are affected. Of relevance to the present discussion, there are numerous reports of SLE-like symptoms in X-CGD patients and mothers who carry the X-CGD mutation [108]. This observation may suggest that Xp21.2 mutations may trigger the overexpression of genes from that region [92]. Fourth, we submit that the enhanced X chromosome monosomy observed in women with late-onset AID also supports our hypothesis. The later observation that such a phenomenon was not common to a prototypic disease for early-onset such as SLE [109] appears to confirm that the high replication rate of lymphocytes may accumulate transcription errors over the years thus favoring tolerance breakdown if the X chromosome is affected [110].

6. Final remarks and future developments

Why women? Following efforts in sex hormones and other femalelimited factors, the past decade has provided numerous lines of evidence to potentially explain the female predominance of autoimmune diseases. While we must acknowledge that the current clinical epidemiology providing the known sex ratios illustrated in Table 1 may be burdened by various flaws that include disease awareness and other types of physician-related bias (possibly including socioeconomic factors in mainly private health care systems). As an example, while we recognize that the female to male ratio is significantly higher for identified PBC cases compared to the prevalence of the highly specific autoantibody [6] we should also note that physicians are biased toward diagnoses that are more pertinent to a specific sex, as in the case of coronary heart disease in men [111]. Accordingly, we are in need of true population-based epidemiology to determine the sex ratio in incident cases and not only in tertiary care centers in which one sex could be under-represented, as well represented by the variable ratios observed for type 1 diabetes in different age groups and geographical areas [112]. Similarly, we are convinced that only a multidisciplinary approach ranging from epigenetics [113] to the growing area of microRNA [114], from next-generation genomics to exone sequencing, from serum autoantibodies to clinical phenotyping with appropriate classification criteria will provide solid answers to what is perhaps a more appropriate question such as: why not men?

References

- Shoenfeld Y, Selmi C, Zimlichman E, Gershwin ME. The autoimmunologist: geoepidemiology, a new center of gravity, and prime time for autoimmunity. J Autoimmun 2008;31:325–30.
- [2] Adams DD, Knight JG, Ebringer A. Autoimmune diseases: solution of the environmental, immunological and genetic components with principles for immunotherapy and transplantation. Autoimmun Rev 2010;9:525–30.
- [3] Arora-Singh RK, Assassi S, del Junco DJ, Arnett FC, Perry M, Irfan U, et al. Autoimmune diseases and autoantibodies in the first degree relatives of patients with systemic sclerosis. J Autoimmun 2010;35:52–7.
- [4] Gleicher N, Barad DH. Gender as risk factor for autoimmune diseases. J Autoimmun 2007;28:1–6.
- [5] Eaton WW, Rose NR, Kalaydjian A, Pedersen MG, Mortensen PB. Epidemiology of autoimmune diseases in Denmark. J Autoimmun 2007;29:1–9.
- [6] Lleo A, Battezzati PM, Selmi C, Gershwin ME, Podda M. Is autoimmunity a matter of sex? Autoimmun Rev 2008;7:626–30.
- [7] Selmi C. The X in sex: how autoimmune diseases revolve around sex chromosomes. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2008;22:913–22.
- [8] Medina KL, Garrett KP, Thompson LF, Rossi MI, Payne KJ, Kincade PW. Identification of very early lymphoid precursors in bone marrow and their regulation by estrogen. Nat Immunol 2001;2:718–24.
- [9] Medina KL, Kincade PW. Pregnancy-related steroids are potential negative regulators of B lymphopoiesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1994;91:5382–6.
- [10] Grimaldi CM, Cleary J, Dagtas AS, Moussai D, Diamond B. Estrogen alters thresholds for B cell apoptosis and activation. J Clin Invest 2002;109:1625–33.
- [11] Nalbandian G, Kovats S. Understanding sex biases in immunity: effects of estrogen on the differentiation and function of antigen-presenting cells. Immunol Res 2005;31:91–106.
- [12] Peeva E. Reproductive immunology: current status and future directions (part I). Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010;39:143–7.
- [13] Peeva E. Reproductive immunology: a focus on the role of female sex hormones and other gender-related factors. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2011;40:1–7.
- [14] Ambrosio P, Lermann R, Cordeiro A, Borges A, Nogueira I, Serrano F. Lupus and pregnancy – 15 years of experience in a tertiary center. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010;38:77–81.
- [15] Borchers AT, Naguwa SM, Keen CL, Gershwin ME. The implications of autoimmunity and pregnancy. J Autoimmun 2010;34:J287–99.
- [16] Andreoli L, Bazzani C, Taraborelli M, Reggia R, Lojacono A, Brucato A, et al. Pregnancy in autoimmune rheumatic diseases: the importance of counselling for old and new challenges. Autoimmun Rev 2010;10:51–4.
- [17] Prince MI, Ducker SJ, James OF. Case-control studies of risk factors for primary biliary cirrhosis in two United Kingdom populations. Gut 2010;59:508–12.
- [18] Gershwin ME, Selmi C, Worman HJ, Gold EB, Watnik M, Utts J, et al. Risk factors and comorbidities in primary biliary cirrhosis: a controlled interview-based study of 1032 patients. Hepatology 2005;42:1194–202.
- [19] Bogdanos DP, Choudhuri K, Vergani D. Molecular mimicry and autoimmune liver disease: virtuous intentions, malign consequences. Liver 2001;21:225–32.
- [20] Rieger R, Gershwin ME. The X and why of xenobiotics in primary biliary cirrhosis. J Autoimmun 2007;28:76–84.
- [21] Wakabayashi K, Lian ZX, Leung PS, Moritoki Y, Tsuneyama K, Kurth MJ, et al. Loss of tolerance in C57BL/6 mice to the autoantigen E2 subunit of pyruvate dehydrogenase by a xenobiotic with ensuing biliary ductular disease. Hepatology 2008;48:531–40.
- [22] Coulter EM, Farrell J, Mathews KL, Maggs JL, Pease CK, Lockley DJ, et al. Activation of human dendritic cells by p-phenylenediamine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2007;320:885–92.
- [23] Lim SY, Ghosh SK. Autoreactive responses to an environmental factor. 2. Phthalate-induced anti-DNA specificity is downregulated by autoreactive cytotoxic T cells. Immunology 2004;112:94–104.
- [24] Lim SY, Ghosh SK. Autoreactive responses to an environmental factor: 1. Phthalate induces antibodies exhibiting anti-DNA specificity. Immunology 2003;110:482–92.
- [25] Maloney S, Smith A, Furst DE, Myerson D, Rupert K, Evans PC, et al. Microchimerism of maternal origin persists into adult life. J Clin Invest 1999;104:41–7.
- [26] Murata H, Nakauchi H, Sumida T. Microchimerism in Japanese women patients with systemic sclerosis. Lancet 1999;354:220.

- [27] Adams KM, Nelson JL Microchimerism: an investigative frontier in autoimmunity and transplantation. JAMA 2004;291:1127–31.
- [28] Invernizzi P, Biondi ML, Battezzati PM, Perego F, Selmi C, Cecchini F, et al. Presence of fetal DNA in maternal plasma decades after pregnancy. Hum Genet 2002;110:587–91.
- [29] Gammill HS, Guthrie KA, Aydelotte TM, Waldorf KM, Nelson JL. Effect of parity on fetal and maternal microchimerism: interaction of grafts within a host? Blood 2010;116:2706–12.
- [30] Adams Waldorf KM, Nelson JL. Autoimmune disease during pregnancy and the microchimerism legacy of pregnancy. Immunol Invest 2008;37:631–44.
 [31] Nelson JL, Gillespie KM, Lambert NC, Stevens AM, Loubiere LS, Rutledge JC, et al.
- [31] Nelson JL, Gillespie KM, Lambert NC, Stevens AM, Loubiere LS, Rutledge JC, et al. Maternal microchimerism in peripheral blood in type 1 diabetes and pancreatic islet beta cell microchimerism. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007;104:1637–42.
- [32] Chan WF, Atkins CJ, Naysmith D, van der Westhuizen N, Woo J, Nelson JL. Microchimerism in the rheumatoid nodules of rheumatoid arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum 2011.
- [33] Greer LG, Casey BM, Halvorson LM, Spong CY, McIntire DD, Cunningham FG. Antithyroid antibodies and parity: further evidence for microchimerism in autoimmune thyroid disease. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2011;205 471 e1-4.
- [34] Gadi VK, Nelson JL. Fetal microchimerism in women with breast cancer. Cancer Res 2007;67:9035–8.
- [35] Libert C, Dejager L, Pinheiro I. The X chromosome in immune functions: when a chromosome makes the difference. Nat Rev 2010;10:594–604.
- [36] Migeon BR. The role of X inactivation and cellular mosaicism in women's health and sex-specific diseases. JAMA 2006;295:1428–33.
- [37] Morris JA, Harrison LM. Hypothesis: increased male mortality caused by infection is due to a decrease in heterozygous loci as a result of a single X chromosome. Med hypotheses 2009;72:322–4.
- [38] Spolarics Z. The X-files of inflammation: cellular mosaicism of X-linked polymorphic genes and the female advantage in the host response to injury and infection. Shock 2007;27:597–604 Augusta, Ga,.
- [39] Lambert NC. The price of silence. Arthritis Rheum 2009;60:3164-7.
- [40] Uz E, Mustafa C, Topaloglu R, Bilginer Y, Dursun A, Kasapcopur O, et al. Increased frequency of extremely skewed X chromosome inactivation in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 2009;60:3410–2.
- [41] Lambert NC. The price of silence. Arthritis Rheum 2009;60:3164-7.
- [42] Abkowitz JL, Linenberger ML, Persik M, Newton MA, Guttorp P. Behavior of feline
- hematopoietic stem cells years after busulfan exposure. Blood 1993;82:2096–103. [43] Ozbalkan Z, Bagislar S, Kiraz S, Akyerli CB, Ozer HT, Yavuz S, et al. Skewed X chromosome inactivation in blood cells of women with scleroderma. Arthritis Rheum
- 2005;52:1564–70. [44] Meda F, Folci M, Baccarelli A, Selmi C. The epigenetics of autoimmunity. Cell Mol
- Immunol 2011;8:226–36.
 [45] Hellman A, Chess A. Gene body-specific methylation on the active X chromosome. Science 2007;315:1141–3 New York, NY,.
- [46] Carrel L, Willard HF. X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in Xlinked gene expression in females. Nature 2005;434:400–4.
- [47] Aspinall R. Longevity and the immune response. Biogerontology 2000;1:273–8.
- [48] Choudhry MA, Bland KI, Chaudry IH. Gender and susceptibility to sepsis following trauma. Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets 2006;6:127–35.
- [49] Gannon CJ, Pasquale M, Tracy JK, McCarter RJ, Napolitano LM. Male gender is associated with increased risk for postinjury pneumonia. Shock 2004;21:410–4 Augusta, Ga,.
- [50] Green MS. The male predominance in the incidence of infectious diseases in children: a postulated explanation for disparities in the literature. Int J Epidemiol 1992;21: 381–6.
- [51] Restif O, Amos W. The evolution of sex-specific immune defences. Proc Biol Sci 2010;277(1691):2247–55.
- [52] Butterworth M, McClellan B, Allansmith M. Influence of sex in immunoglobulin levels. Nature 1967;214:1224–5.
- [53] Purtilo DT, Sullivan JL. Immunological bases for superior survival of females. American journal of diseases of children (1960), 1979;133:1251–3.
- [54] Migeon BR. Why females are mosaics, X-chromosome inactivation, and sex differences in disease. Gend Med 2007;4:97–105.
- [55] Glezen WP, Loda FA, Clyde Jr WA, Senior RJ, Sheaffer CI, Conley WG, et al. Epidemiologic patterns of acute lower respiratory disease of children in a pediatric group practice. J Pediatr 1971;78:397–406.
- [56] Hall CB, Kopelman AE, Douglas Jr RG, Geiman JM, Meagher MP. Neonatal respiratory syncytial virus infection. N Engl J Med 1979;300:393–6.
- [57] Thompson DJ, Gezon HM, Rogers KD, Yee RB, Hatch TF. Excess risk of staphylococcal infection and disease in newborn males. Am J Epidemiol 1966;84:314–28.
- [58] Strachan NJ, Watson RO, Novik V, Hofreuter D, Ogden D, Galan JE. Sexual dimorphism in campylobacteriosis. Epidemiol Infect 2008;136:1492–5.
- [59] Notarangelo L, Casanova JL, Conley ME, Chapel H, Fischer A, Puck J, et al. Primary immunodeficiency diseases: an update from the International Union of Immunological Societies Primary Immunodeficiency Diseases Classification Committee Meeting in Budapest, 2005. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2006;117:883–96.
- [60] Leonard WJ. Cytokines and immunodeficiency diseases. Nat Rev 2001;1:200-8.
- [61] Mordmuller B, Turrini F, Long H, Kremsner PG, Arese P. Neutrophils and monocytes from subjects with the Mediterranean GGPD variant: effect of Plasmodium falciparum hemozoin on GGPD activity, oxidative burst and cytokine production. Eur Cytokine Netw 1998;9:239–45.
- [62] Wilmanski J, Siddiqi M, Deitch EA, Spolarics Z. Augmented IL-10 production and redox-dependent signaling pathways in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenasedeficient mouse peritoneal macrophages. J Leukoc Biol 2005;78:85–94.
 [63] Ozcelik T. X chromosome inactivation and female predisposition to autoimmunity.
- [63] Ozcelik T. X chromosome inactivation and female predisposition to autoimmunity. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2008;34:348–51.

- [64] Kast RE. Predominance of autoimmune and rheumatic diseases in females. J Rheumatol 1977;4:288–92.
- [65] Stewart JJ. The female X-inactivation mosaic in systemic lupus erythematosus. Immunol Today 1998;19:352–7.
- [66] Takeno M, Nagafuchi H, Kaneko S, Wakisaka S, Oneda K, Takeba Y, et al. Autoreactive T cell clones from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus support polyclonal autoantibody production. | Immunol 1997;158:3529–38.
- [67] Takeno M, Nagafuchi H, Kaneko S, Wakisaka S, Oneda K, Takeba Y, et al. Autoreactive T cell clones from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus support polyclonal autoantibody production. J Immunol 1997;158:3529–38.
- [68] Brix TH, Knudsen GP, Kristiansen M, Kyvik KO, Orstavik KH, Hegedus L. High frequency of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in females with autoimmune thyroid disease: a possible explanation for the female predisposition to thyroid autoimmunity. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol 2005;90:5949–53.
- [69] Ozbalkan Z, Bagislar S, Kiraz S, Akyerli CB, Ozer HT, Yavuz S, et al. Skewed X chromosome inactivation in blood cells of women with scleroderma. Arthritis Rheum 2005;52:1564–70.
- [70] Ozcelik T, Uz E, Akyerli CB, Bagislar S, Mustafa CA, Gursoy A, et al. Evidence from autoimmune thyroiditis of skewed X-chromosome inactivation in female predisposition to autoimmunity. Eur J Hum Genet 2006;14:791–7.
- [71] Uz E, Loubiere LS, Gadi VK, Ozbalkan Z, Stewart J, Nelson JL, et al. Skewed Xchromosome inactivation in scleroderma. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2008;34: 352–5.
- [72] Invernizzi P. The X chromosome in female-predominant autoimmune diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1110:57–64.
- [73] Chitnis S, Monteiro J, Glass D, Apatoff B, Salmon J, Concannon P, et al. The role of X-chromosome inactivation in female predisposition to autoimmunity. Arthritis Res 2000;2:399–406.
- [74] Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Namjou B, Kimberly RP, Ramsey-Goldman R, Petri M, et al. Klinefelter's syndrome (47, XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: support for the notion of a gene-dose effect from the X chromosome. Arthritis Rheum 2008;58:2511–7.
- [75] Lu Q, Wu A, Tesmer L, Ray D, Yousif N, Richardson B. Demethylation of CD40LG on the inactive X in T cells from women with lupus. J Immunol 2007;179: 6352–8.
- [76] Lu Q, Wu A, Tesmer L, Ray D, Yousif N, Richardson B. Demethylation of CD40LG on the inactive X in T cells from women with lupus. J Immunol 2007;179: 6352–8.
- [77] Tsuda M, Torgerson TR, Selmi C, Gambineri E, Carneiro-Sampaio M, Mannurita SC, et al. The spectrum of autoantibodies in IPEX syndrome is broad and includes anti-mitochondrial autoantibodies. J Autoimmun 2010;35:265–8.
- [78] Forsdyke DR. X chromosome reactivation perturbs intracellular self/not-self discrimination. Immunol Cell Biol 2009;87:525–8.
- [79] Zhou Y, Yuan J, Pan Y, Fei Y, Qiu X, Hu N, et al. T cell CD40LG gene expression and the production of IgG by autologous B cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. Clin Immunol 2009;132:362–70.
- [80] Lleo A, Liao J, Invernizzi P, Zhao M, Bernuzzi F, Ma L, et al. IgM levels inversely correlate with cd40l promoter methylation in patients with primary biliary cirrhosis Hepatology-Ana lleo library 4–26. Hepatology 2012;55(1):153–60.
- [81] Subramanian S, Tus K, Li QZ, Wang A, Tian XH, Zhou J, et al. A Tlr7 translocation accelerates systemic autoimmunity in murine lupus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006;103:9970–5.
- [82] Smith-Bouvier DL, Divekar AA, Sasidhar M, Du S, Tiwari-Woodruff SK, King JK, et al. A role for sex chromosome complement in the female bias in autoimmune disease. J Exp Med 2008;205:1099–108.
- [83] Invernizzi P. The X chromosome in female-predominant autoimmune diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1110:57–64.
- [84] Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Selmi C, Persani L, Battezzati PM, Zuin M, et al. X chromosome monosomy: a common mechanism for autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 2005;175: 575–8.
- [85] Ranke MB, Saenger P. Turner's syndrome. Lancet 2001;358:309-14.
- [86] Elsheikh M, Wass JA, Conway GS. Autoimmune thyroid syndrome in women with Turner's syndrome – the association with karyotype. Clin Endocrinol 2001;55:223–6.
- [87] Sybert VP, McCauley E. Turner's syndrome. N Engl J Med 2004;351:1227–38.
- [88] Bondy CA, Cheng C. Monosomy for the X chromosome. Chromosome Res 2009;17:649–58.
- [89] Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Selmi C, Persani L, Battezzati PM, Zuin M, et al. X chromosome monosomy: a common mechanism for autoimmune diseases. J Immunol 2005;175:575–8.
- [90] Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Battezzati PM, Bianchi I, Grati FR, Simoni G, et al. Frequency of monosomy X in women with primary biliary cirrhosis. Lancet 2004;363:533–5.
- [91] Mitchell MM, Lleo A, Zammataro L, Mayo MJ, Invernizzi P, Bach N, et al. Epigenetic investigation of variably X chromosome inactivated genes in monozygotic female twins discordant for primary biliary cirrhosis. Epigenetics 2011;6:95–102.
- [92] Brooks WH. X chromosome inactivation and autoimmunity. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010;39(1):20–9.

- [93] Wallace HM, Fraser AV, Hughes A. A perspective of polyamine metabolism. Biochem J 2003;376:1–14.
- [94] Casero Jr RA, Marton LJ. Targeting polyamine metabolism and function in cancer and other hyperproliferative diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2007;6:373–90.
- [95] Hobbs CA, Gilmour SK. High levels of intracellular polyamines promote histone acetyltransferase activity resulting in chromatin hyperacetylation. J Cell Biochem 2000;77:345–60.
- [96] Poduslo JF, Curran GL. Polyamine modification increases the permeability of proteins at the blood–nerve and blood–brain barriers. J Neurochem 1996;66:1599–609.
- [97] Williams K. Modulation and block of ion channels: a new biology of polyamines. Cell Signal 1997;9:1–13.
- [98] Maeda Y, Rachez C, Hawel III L, Byus CV, Freedman LP, Sladek FM. Polyamines modulate the interaction between nuclear receptors and vitamin D receptorinteracting protein 205. Mol Endocrinol 2002;16:1502–10 Baltimore, Md.
- [99] Thomas T, Kiang DT. A twenty-two-fold increase in the relative affinity of estrogen receptor to poly (dA-dC).poly (dG-dT) in the presence of polyamines. Nucleic Acids Res 1988;16:4705–20.
- [100] Kleppe K, Osland A, Fosse V, Male R, Lossius I, Helland D, et al. Effect of polyamines on enzymes involved in DNA repair. Med Biol 1981;59:374–80.
- [101] Hasan R, Alam MK, Ali R. Polyamine induced Z-conformation of native calf thymus DNA. FEBS Lett 1995;368:27–30.
- [102] Brooks WH. Systemic lupus erythematosus and related autoimmune diseases are antigen-driven, epigenetic diseases. Med hypotheses 2002;59:736–41.
- [103] Ballestar E. Epigenetic alterations in autoimmune rheumatic diseases. Nat Rev Rheumatol 2011;7:263–71.
- [104] Ballestar E. Epigenetics lessons from twins: prospects for autoimmune disease. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2010;39:30–41.
- [105] Javierre BM, Esteller M, Ballestar E. Epigenetic connections between autoimmune disorders and haematological malignancies. Trends Immunol 2008;29:616–23.
- [106] Chagnon P, Schneider R, Hebert J, Fortin PR, Provost S, Belisle C, et al. Identification and characterization of an Xp22.33;Yp11.2 translocation causing a triplication of several genes of the pseudoautosomal region 1 in an XX male patient with severe systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54:1270–8.
- [107] Sawalha AH, Harley JB, Scofield RH. Autoimmunity and Klinefelter's syndrome: when men have two X chromosomes. J Autoimmun 2009;33:31–4.
- [108] Brandrup F, Koch C, Petri M, Schiodt M, Johansen KS. Discoid lupus erythematosus-like lesions and stomatitis in female carriers of X-linked chronic granulomatous disease. Br J Dermatol 1981;104:495–505.
- [109] Invernizzi P, Miozzo M, Oertelt-Prigione S, Meroni PL, Persani L, Selmi C, et al. X monosomy in female systemic lupus erythematosus. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2007;1110:84–91.
- [110] Selmi C. The X in sex: how autoimmune diseases revolve around sex chromosomes. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 2008;22:913–22.
- [111] Arber S, McKinlay J, Adams A, Marceau L, Link C, O'Donnell A. Patient characteristics and inequalities in doctors' diagnostic and management strategies relating to CHD: a video-simulation experiment. Soc Sci Med 2006;62:103–15.
- [112] Gale EA, Gillespie KM. Diabetes and gender. Diabetologia 2001;44:3-15.
- [113] Lu Q, Renaudineau Y, Cha S, Ilei G, Brooks WH, Selmi Č, et al. Epigenetics in autoimmune disorders: highlights of the 10th Sjogren's syndrome symposium. Autoimmun Rev 2010;9:627–30.
- [114] Kapsogeorgou EK, Gourzi VC, Manoussakis MN, Moutsopoulos HM, Tzioufas AG. Cellular microRNAs (miRNAs) and Sjogren's syndrome: candidate regulators of autoimmune response and autoantigen expression. J Autoimmun 2011;37: 129–35.
- [115] Chagnon P, Schneider R, Hebert J, Fortin PR, Provost S, Belisle C, et al. Identification and characterization of an Xp22.33;Yp11.2 translocation causing a triplication of several genes of the pseudoautosomal region 1 in an XX male patient with severe systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum 2006;54:1270–8.
- [116] Miozzo M, Selmi C, Gentilin B, Grati FR, Sirchia S, Oertelt S, et al. Preferential X chromosome loss but random inactivation characterize primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology 2007;46:456–62.
- [117] Chatila TA, Blaeser F, Ho N, Lederman HM, Voulgaropoulos C, Helms C, et al. JM2, encoding a fork head-related protein, is mutated in X-linked autoimmunityallergic disregulation syndrome. J Clin Invest 2000;106:R75–81.
- [118] D'Alessandro E, Di Cola M, Lo Re ML, Ligas C, Vaccarella C, D'Andrea F, et al. Nonrandom chromosome changes in multiple sclerosis. Am J Med Genet 1990;37: 406–11.
- [119] Ortiz-Romero PL, Corell-Almuzara A, Lopez-Estebaranz JL, Arranz FR, Ruiz-Contreras J. Lupus like lesions in a patient with X-linked chronic granulomatous disease and recombinant X chromosome. Dermatology 1997;195:280–3.
- [120] Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Namjou B, Kimberly RP, Ramsey-Goldman R, Petri M, et al. Klinefelter's syndrome (47, XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: support for the notion of a gene-dose effect from the X chromosome. Arthritis Rheum 2008;58:2511–7.